ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Chesterfield County

J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAR - 4 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

LENSON CLYBURN, JR.,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

Appellate Case No. 2011-197712

AMENDED BRIEF OF PETITIONER

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

ISSUES PRESENTED

I

The Probate Court acting as a Drug Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to impose petitioner's suspended sentence upon his termination from the Drug Court program.

II

The PCR court erred in denying petitioner's allegation that his drug court termination proceeding violated due process because he received no prior notice that such a hearing would be held in his case. Petitioner was taken into custody on August 5, 2009, and his drug court termination hearing was held on August 6, 2009.

III

The PCR judge erred in denying petitioner's allegation that his termination from the drug program was unconstitutional because he was not represented by counsel at the drug court termination hearing and he did not waive his right to counsel at that time.

IV

The PCR court erred in dismissing petitioner's claim that he did not voluntarily and intelligently waive his right to an appeal of the drug court termination proceeding even though he signed an agreement at his guilty plea proceeding pledging not to appeal the drug court termination proceeding because this characterized petitioner's guilty pleas as conditional guilty pleas, which are not acceptable in court.

V

The PCR judge erred in ruling that petitioner could not present his guilty plea proceeding issues (other than the right to appeal his guilty pleas) at the PCR hearing on the ground his PCR action referencing his guilty plea proceeding was allegedly untimely filed because petitioner indeed filed a timely PCR action in reference to his guilty plea proceeding after his guilty plea suspended sentences were imposed at the subsequent drug court termination proceeding.

STATEMENT

Petitioner pled guilty to possession of marijuana with intent to distribute and possession of crack cocaine with intent to distribute during the November 2007 term of the Chesterfield County General Sessions Court before Judge Edward B. Cottingham. Petitioner was sentenced to two seven-year concurrent sentences, suspended upon successful completion of the drug court program. App. 1-15. Patricia Rivers was listed as counsel of record for petitioner at the guilty plea proceeding and Assistant Solicitor Daniel Jones appeared on behalf of the state.

On August 6, 2009, petitioner appeared before Judge Edwin M. Davis at the Chesterfield County Drug Court for a drug court termination hearing. At that time, his guilty plea probation sentence was revoked and his original two concurrent seven-year guilty plea sentences were imposed. App. 17-20. Petitioner's attempt to appeal the drug court termination proceeding failed, and the appeal was dismissed. Assistant Solicitor Adam Ford appeared on behalf of the state, but petitioner was not represented by counsel at the drug court termination hearing proceeding.

On March 29, 2010, petitioner filed a post-conviction relief application with the Chesterfield County Office of the Clerk of Court. App. 22-27.

The respondent filed a return and partial motion to dismiss dated May 14, 2010, conceding that an evidentiary hearing could be held in reference to the drug court termination issues, but contending that the PCR action referencing petitioner's guilty pleas should be dismissed as untimely filed. App. 28-32.

A PCR hearing was convened on June 9, 2011, at the Chesterfield County Courthouse before Judge J. Michael Baxley, who ruled that the PCR hearing issues to be addressed would include the drug court termination issues and whether petitioner was denied his right to a direct appeal of his guilty plea proceeding. Judge Baxley granted the state's motion to bar the remaining

guilty plea proceeding issues from being presented at the PCR hearing. App. 33-94. Petitioner was present at the PCR hearing and represented by Melissa Gay, and Assistant Attorney General Karen C. Ratigan appeared on behalf of the state.

On July 15, 2011, Judge Baxley issued an order of dismissal ruling that no constitutional violations were found in connection with petitioner's drug court termination case and that petitioner was not denied the right to appeal his guilty plea proceeding. App. 96-104. Petitioner appealed Judge Baxley's order of dismissal in the case.

On appeal, a petition for writ of certiorari was filed on petitioner's behalf on March 26, 2012. The respondent filed a return on August 9, 2012. On July 11, 2014, this Court granted petitioner's petition for writ of certiorari and a brief of petitioner was filed on August 11, 2014. On February 4, 2015, this Court ordered the parties to brief an additional issue on the question of subject matter jurisdiction in the case. This amended brief of petitioner follows.

ARGUMENT I

The Probate Court acting as a Drug Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to impose petitioner's suspended sentence upon his termination from the Drug Court program.

Per this Court's Order dated July 18, 2005, (2005-07-18-03), Judge Edwin M. Davis was assigned to preside over Drug Court for Chesterfield County.¹ However, in the case at bar, Judge Edwin M. Davis sat under authority of a probate court while presiding over petitioner's drug court

¹ IT IS ORDERED that the Honorable Edwin M. Davis, Probate Judge for Chesterfield County, is hereby assigned to preside over the Chesterfield County Adult Drug Court Program. Pursuant to this assignment, Judge Davis may preside over guilty pleas, bond hearings, probation revocations, motions and other proceedings related to the defendant's participating in the Chesterfield County Adult Drug Court Program. Pursuant to this appointment, Judge Davis may impose sanctions for violations of the conditions of the Adult Drug Court Program. Sanctions may include, but are not limited to, public service work, additional treatment, issuance of a bench warrant, or termination of participation in the Adult Drug Court Program.

termination hearing. See R. 17 which reads “a hearing was held in connection with the above entitled cause before Honorable Edwin M. Davis, Judge of the Probate for Chesterfield County, in the main courtroom of the Chesterfield County Courthouse, Chesterfield, South Carolina, commencing at 5: 08 p.m. on Thursday, August 6, 2009.”

Generally, however, a probate court has no jurisdiction over criminal courts. See 27A Am Jur.2d Equity §1177 as follows:

...a civil court has....no equitable jurisdiction, however, to declare the unconstitutionality of criminal statutes that infringe upon personal property rights – such jurisdiction being in criminal courts, which have jurisdiction to declare criminal statutes unconstitutional and void. Where the civil courts lack jurisdiction, the action must be dismissed to protect the jurisdiction of criminal courts.

Our South Carolina Courts have addressed the issue of the jurisdiction of probate courts in Judy v. Judy, 393 S.C. 160, 712 S.E.2d 408 (2011), as follows:

...we have definitely recognized that the probate court is not a constitutional court. See Davis v. Davis, 214 S.C. 247, 52 S.E.2d 192 (1949)(recognizing the probate court has only such jurisdiction as vested in it by the General Assembly); S.C. Const. art. V. § 12 (“Jurisdiction in matters testamentary and of administration....shall be vested as the General Assembly may provide, consistent with the provisions of Section 1 of this article.”) see also Anderson, 299 S.C. at 115, 382 S.E.2d at 900 (“The jurisdiction of a court over the subject matter of a proceeding is determined by the Constitution, the laws of the state, and is fundamental.”) ...

S.C. Code Ann Section 62-1-302 generally defines the probate court’s jurisdiction and provides [as having authority] over: (1) estates of decedents, including the contest of wills, construction of wills, and the determination of heirs and successors of decedents and estates of protected persons.

S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-302(a)(1)(2009 & Supp.2010)(emphasis added). In conjunction with this code section, the general definitional section in the Probate Court defines “claims” as including “liabilities of the decedent or protected person whether

arising in contract, in tort, or otherwise, and liabilities of the estate which arise at or after the death of the decedent or after the appointment of a conservator....”S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-201(4)(2009)(emphasis added).

Finally, there is no mechanism to grant drug court jurisdiction to a probate court in a manner similar to which S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-450 -300 allows for an arrest warrant or a citation to confer jurisdiction on a probation revocation court, or to which S.C. Code Ann. §17-19-10 requires an indictment to invoke subject matter jurisdiction in a General Sessions Court. The Probate Court acting as a Drug Court lacked jurisdiction over petitioner’s Drug Court termination hearing.

ARGUMENT II

The PCR court erred in denying petitioner’s allegation that his drug court termination proceeding violated due process because he received no prior notice that such a hearing would be held in his case. Petitioner was taken into custody on August 5, 2009, and his drug court hearing was held on August 6, 2009.

Petitioner was admitted into the drug court program on November 7, 2007, which was the date on which his guilty plea proceeding was held. App. 3-15; App. 17-20. At the PCR hearing, petitioner testified that he explained to drug court authorities that he had missed some days from the drug program due to his chemo treatments; and that as a result, a drug status report was issued excusing him until his May 2009 graduation date. Also at the PCR hearing, petitioner stated that he was not delinquent on his payments and had completed eighteen months of drug court. App. 81, l. 5 – p. 83, l. 4. Then, on August 5, 2009, petitioner was arrested, and on August 6, 2009, the drug court termination hearing was held. App. 17-20; App. 70, ll. 19-25. Petitioner stated further at the PCR hearing that no warrant was ever taken out on him before his August 5, 2009 arrest, and that he

was never notified by mail or otherwise about a termination hearing date or about a date on which to appear at the office regarding the termination matter. App. 85, ll. 1-7; App. 83, l. 9 – p. 84, l. 21.

Drug court counsel and state attorney Mary Thomas Johnson-Lee testified at the PCR hearing and admitted that no notices whatsoever are sent out to drug court participants to warn them of termination hearing dates set to dismiss them from the drug court program. App. 56, l. 16 – p. 61, l. 6; App. 62, l. 21 – p. 63, l. 5. Also, Drug Court Director Morris Harrington testified at the PCR hearing and admitted that no paperwork is issued to participants of drug court programs regarding their pending terminations and that petitioner would not have received any such notice prior to his drug court termination hearing. App. 67, ll. 3-21; App. 78, ll. 13-17.

The PCR judge ruled that petitioner did not satisfy his burden of proving that there were constitutional violations that occurred in connection with his drug court termination hearing proceeding because he signed a five-page drug court agreement at the guilty plea proceeding. App. 101-103. See exhibit Number 6 at Supp App. pages 6-10. Note that the drug court agreement did not include a paragraph waiving his due process right to notice prior to a termination hearing.

The procedure for terminating a defendant from drug court and imposing the original sentence deprives a defendant of conditional liberty interests and thereby entitles him to due process rights. State v. Perkins, 378 S.C. 57, 661 S.E.2d 366 (2008). Thus, a drug court program participant is entitled to notice and a hearing to determine whether he should be terminated from the program. State v. Perkins, *supra*. Compare also Dangerfield v. State, 376 S.C. 176, 656 S.E.2d 352 (2008). In the case at bar, it is clear that no hearing notice was issued to petitioner prior to his drug court termination hearing. Petitioner stated that he never knew that he was having a termination hearing. App. 85, ll. 1-3. Therefore, petitioner was denied due process with respect to notice of his drug termination hearing. Hence, said termination cannot stand as constitutionally sound.

The PCR court erred in denying petitioner's allegation that his drug court termination proceeding violated due process because he received no prior notice that a drug court termination hearing would be held on his behalf.

ARGUMENT III

The PCR judge erred in denying petitioner's allegation that his termination from the drug program was unconstitutional because he was not represented by counsel at the drug court termination proceeding and he did not waive his right to counsel at that time.

During the PCR hearing, petitioner testified that he was never notified by either the drug court or the solicitor's office that he had a right to counsel at the drug court termination hearing. Petitioner testified that he qualified for a public defender and that he would have asked for one had he known he had a right to an attorney at that time. App. 84, ll. 22-25; App. 85, l. 16 – p. 86, l. 23; App. 89, l. 25 – p. 90, l. 6.

Mary Thomas Johnson-Lee (state attorney and drug court counsel) testified at the PCR hearing that no notification goes out to drug court participants warning them of a pending termination hearing or the right to have counsel present at that hearing, but that counsel can be provided if they qualify for legal assistance. App. 59, l. 20 – p. 60, l. 4; App. 60, l. 25 – p. 61, l. 5; App. 64, ll. 13-23; App. 65, ll. 22-25. Also, note that drug termination candidates are not automatically appointed attorneys when their cases come up for termination hearings; however, petitioner qualified for public defender assistance at his termination hearing. App. 63, ll. 22-23; App. 65, ll. 14-15. Drug Court Director Harrington testified at the PCR hearing and admitted also that no notices are sent out to drug court participants who are about to be terminated about their right to counsel at drug court termination proceedings. App. 67, ll. 14-21; App. 78, ll. 3-17.

Harrington stated that he orally advised petitioner of his right to counsel on the day prior to his drug court termination hearing. App. 75, l. 24 – p. 76, l. 3.

Terminating a defendant from drug court and imposing the original sentence in the case deprives the defendant of conditional liberty interests. State v. Perkins, 378 S.C. 57, 661 S.E.2d 366 (2008). The Sixth Amendment mandates that in all criminal proceedings (where liberty interests are at stake) the accused shall have the right to the assistance of counsel for his defense; and an indigent criminal defendant is entitled to have an attorney appointed by the court to represent him. Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963); State v. Boykin, 324 S.C. 552, 478 S.E.2d 689 (1996). Also, at revocation hearings, there is a due process right to counsel in existence as well. See Barlet v. State, 288 S.C. 481, 343 S.E.2d 620 (1986); Turner v. State, 384 S.C. 451, 682 S.E.2d 792 (2009). And although a defendant may waive his right to counsel, in order for such a waiver to be valid he must be informed of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation or the record must indicate that the defendant had sufficient background to understand the disadvantages of self-representation with respect to the waiver. State v. Boykin, *supra*, citing to Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). See also State v. Thompson, 355 S.C. 255, 584 S.E.2d 131 (2003). Note that the drug court termination proceedings are akin to revocation proceedings because one's suspended sentence is revoked and the original sentence imposed.

In the case at bar, petitioner's drug court termination proceeding was handled sans counsel's assistance and there was no indication that petitioner was advised of his right to counsel at the drug court termination proceeding or that he subsequently waived his right to counsel at that time. App. 17-20. Petitioner was revoked and sentenced sans legal assistance. Petitioner stated that he tried to defend himself at the drug court termination hearing, but that every time he tried to speak he was

“cut short.” App. 85, ll. 1-15. The drug court termination proceeding transcript is devoid of any mention to petitioner of his right to counsel. App 17-20.

The PCR court ruled that petitioner did not meet his burden of proving that there were constitutional violations that occurred at the drug court termination hearing proceeding because he signed a drug court agreement in connection with drug court at the guilty plea proceeding. App. 101 – 103. See exhibit #6 at Supp. App. 6-10.

The PCR judge erred in denying petitioner’s allegation that his termination from the drug program was unconstitutional because he was not represented by counsel at the termination proceeding and did not waive his right to counsel at that time.

ARGUMENT IV

The PCR court erred in dismissing petitioner’s claim that he did not voluntarily and intelligently waive his right to appeal the drug court termination proceeding even though he signed an agreement at his guilty plea proceeding pledging not to appeal the drug court termination proceeding because this characterized petitioner’s guilty pleas as conditional guilty pleas, which are unacceptable in court.

Petitioner attempted to appeal the drug court termination proceeding that revoked his suspended guilty plea sentence and imposed his guilty plea original sentences. However, the Court of Appeals issued an order dismissing petitioner’s pro se attempt to appeal the same as untimely filed. Supp App. 1- 3.

During the PCR hearing, petitioner testified in effect that although at the close of the termination hearing he did not have any idea of how the appellate process worked, he attempted to file an appeal of his drug court termination proceeding, but it was dismissed as untimely filed. App. 87, ll. 3-17.

The PCR judge ruled that petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof with respect to his allegation that he did not voluntarily and intelligently waive his right to an appeal of his termination proceeding. App 103-104.

In the drug court program agreement (Supp App 6-10) that petitioner signed at his guilty plea proceeding, paragraph #4 required petitioner to waive any and all rights to appeal a drug court termination. Supp App. 6. Therefore, petitioner's guilty pleas were conditional guilty pleas in that petitioner was only allowed to have his guilty plea sentences suspended so that he could enter into the drug court program if he waived his right to appeal a drug court termination. Guilty pleas are unconditional and if there is any attempt to attach any condition to the same, the trial judge must direct a plea of not guilty. State v. O'Leary, 302 S.C. 17, 393 S.E.2d 186 (1990), citing to State v. Truesdale, 278 S.C.368, 296 S.E.2d 528 (1982). In O'Leary, the court reversed because the trial judge accepted a guilty plea where the defendant agreed to plead guilty to DUS, but had to waive the right to appeal the constitutionality of the statute regarding notice to drivers whose licenses are suspended.

Trial counsel has a duty to make certain a client is fully aware of the right to appeal and ascertain whether his client desires an appeal, and then file an appeal if the client wishes to appeal. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989); Frasier v. State, 306 S.C. 158, 410 S.E.2d 572 (1991). However, in the case at bar, petitioner was not represented by counsel at his drug court termination proceeding, which meant he did not waive his right to appeal after his drug court termination hearing because he had no counsel to inform him of his appellate rights. In the end, petitioner was denied appellate review of his drug hearing termination proceeding. A defendant is entitled to a direct appeal where there has been no intelligent or voluntary waiver of the right to an appeal made by the defendant. White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974). The PCR court

erred in dismissing petitioner's claim that he did not voluntarily and intelligently waive his right to an appeal of the drug court termination proceeding.

ARGUMENT V

The PCR judge erred in ruling that petitioner could not present his guilty plea proceeding issues (other than the right to appeal his guilty pleas) at the PCR hearing on the ground that his PCR action referencing his guilty plea proceeding was allegedly untimely filed because petitioner indeed filed a timely PCR action in reference to his guilty plea proceeding after his suspended guilty plea sentences were imposed at the subsequent drug court termination hearing.

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