STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO CHESTERFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, Guilty Plea Judge
The Honorable Edwin M. Davis, Drug Court Termination Judge
The Honorable J. Michael Baxley, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

Appellate Case No. 2011-197712

Lenson Clyburn, Jr.,.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

KAREN C. RATIGAN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 68331

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Chesterfield County Drug Court Coordinator Morris Harrington testified Petitioner had substantially completed the drug court program and only needed to attend graduation. (App.pp.69-71). Harrington testified, however, there was a six-month period before the drug court program was completed. (App.pp.69-70). Harrington testified he spoke to Petitioner after he had been accused of selling drugs, but that Petitioner said he

was not involved. (App.pp.71-72). Harrington testified he told Petitioner at that time that if he got “into some trouble” with selling drugs, he would not graduate from drug court. (App.p.72). Harrington testified he subsequently spoke to Petitioner at the jail after he was arrested. (App.pp.72-73; pp.75-76). Harrington testified he told Petitioner at this meeting that the drug court termination hearing would take place the next day and he could have an attorney at that hearing. (App.pp.72-73; pp.75-76). Harrington testified Petitioner said he did not want an attorney because he was not guilty, but that if Petitioner had requested counsel, he would have contacted Johnson-Lee to have counsel appointed. (App.p.73; p.76). Harrington testified Petitioner could have requested counsel up until the point the termination hearing began. (App.p.78). Harrington confirmed there was no written notice of a hearing or availability of counsel and that these things were verbally conveyed. (App.p.67; p.73; p.78). Harrington confirmed one could not participate in the drug court program after an arrest and that, in addition to Petitioner’s arrest, he had three other sanctions. (App.p.75).

B.

In denying Petitioner’s application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found Petitioner “failed to meet his burden of proving there were constitutional violations in either the drug court termination hearing or process.” The PCR judge found Petitioner executed a “knowing and voluntary” waivers and agreements document with the State before he pled guilty and entered the drug court program and that this document waived certain rights. The PCR judge found Harrington was a credible witness. The PCR judge found Petitioner was provided notice of the drug court termination hearing and was asked

if he wanted counsel at that hearing, which he declined. (App.pp.101-03).

C.

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving his due process rights were violated because of the lack of written notice of either the drug court termination hearing date or the opportunity to have counsel at that hearing.

Petitioner signed a waivers and agreements document – while represented by counsel – before he pled guilty. Clause 20 of that document states:

I must obey all laws and notify the Drug Court Director of any criminal charges that are made against me, including any driving violations or minor offenses. My arrest or conviction on other charges, or my failure to report other charges, may result in termination from the Program. I understand that I can be terminated from the program if I am rearrested on any new charge.

(Supp.App.p.8). Clause 35 of the waivers and agreements document states:

My participation in the Program requires that I waive very important rights. I have fully discussed my rights with a lawyer before agreeing to enter the Program, if applicable. I am satisfied that I understand how the program will affect my rights. At the time of executing this document, my thinking is clear and I am not under the influence of any substance. The decision to waive my rights and enter the Program is mine alone and made of my own free will. I expressly agree to accept and abide by all the terms and conditions of the Drug Court Program.

(Supp.App.p.9). Clause 36 of the waivers and agreements document states:

I certify that I have read the above Waiver and Agreement and that it has been fully explained to me, and I am desirous of treatment services in accordance with the Drug Court Program. I understand that in all cases strict standards of confidentiality and professional ethics will be maintained.

(Supp.App.p.10). These clauses were initialed by Petitioner and Petitioner signed the document the day before his guilty plea hearing. (Supp.App.pp.6-10). These clauses also

corroborate Johnson-Lee's and Harrington's testimony that signing the waivers and agreements document waived certain rights such as that of written notice of a hearing or counsel. This Court has long held a defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of various constitutional rights does not constitute a violation of due process. See, e.g., Spooone v. State, 379 S.C. 138, 665 S.E.2d 605 (2008) (holding an individual may waive the right to both direct appeal and post-conviction relief); State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001) (holding an individual can waive his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination); State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 545 S.E.2d 805 (2001) (holding an individual can waive his Sixth Amendment confrontation right by his own conduct); State v. Brewer, 328 S.C. 117, 492 S.E.2d 97 (1997) (holding an individual can waive his Sixth Amendment right to counsel); State v. Tumbleston, 376 S.C. 90, 654 S.E.2d 849 (Ct. App. 2007) (holding an individual may waive the right to have his indictment presented to the grand jury).

Petitioner's constitutional due process rights were protected in this case. This Court held in State v. Perkins, 378 S.C. 57, 61, 661 S.E.2d 366, 368 (2008) that "a Drug Court Program participant is entitled to notice and a hearing to determine whether he has violated the conditions of his suspended sentence before his sentence may be imposed." "The procedural component of the state and federal due process clauses requires the individual whose property or liberty interests are affected to have received adequate notice of the proceeding, the opportunity to be heard in person, the opportunity to introduce evidence, the right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses, and the right to meaningful judicial review." Dangerfield v. State, 376 S.C. 176, 179, 656 S.E.2d

352, 354 (2008). Petitioner failed to demonstrate there is a constitutional right to written notice of a drug court termination hearing or the right to counsel at such. Rather, the record clearly indicates Petitioner's constitutional rights were protected in this case through Harrington's in-person, oral notice of the drug court termination hearing to be held the following day. Petitioner did not simply attend a court hearing without prior knowledge and have his liberty revoked without explanation. Petitioner's due process rights were safeguarded because he was afforded the opportunity for a hearing on the allegations made that would subject him to a loss of liberty – this was the drug court termination hearing. (App.pp.17-20). Petitioner's violations were recited to the judge and Petitioner was given an opportunity to comment and explain his version of events before the judge made a decision as to whether he would be terminated from the program and what sort of sentence he could receive. (App.pp.17-20). As such, Petitioner's constitutional right of due process was satisfied when he received proper notice of the drug court termination hearing and then a full hearing to determine whether he violated the terms and conditions of drug court. See id.

Petitioner was afforded proper notice of the drug court termination hearing. Johnson-Lee testified a member of the drug court team advised a defendant verbally of the date of his hearing. (App.pp.58-59; p.62). Harrington testified he visited Petitioner at the jail on the night of his arrest and advised him the drug court termination hearing would be the following day. (App.pp.72-73; pp.75-76). While Petitioner claimed Harrington never visited him and advised him of his termination hearing, the PCR judge found Harrington's testimony was credible. (App.p.102). See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C.

4, 13, 430 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1993) (finding great deference is given to the PCR judge's findings on the credibility of witnesses); see also Menne v. Keowee Key Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc., 368 S.C. 557, 567, 629 S.E.2d 690, 696 (Ct. App. 2006) ("Because the appellate court lacks the opportunity for direct observation of the witnesses, it should accord great deference to trial court findings where matters of credibility are involved."). Petitioner was given proper notice that there would be a drug court termination hearing the following day in order to address his arrest and possible termination from the program.

Similarly, Petitioner was afforded the opportunity to have counsel represent him at the drug court termination hearing but chose not to do so. Initially, Respondent notes this Court has never held one has the constitutional right to counsel at a drug court termination hearing. Cf. Barlet v. State, 288 S.C. 481, 343 S.E.2d 620 (1986) (holding defendants at a probation revocation proceeding have the right to counsel). Regardless, Johnson-Lee testified attorneys were appointed to represent defendants at the termination hearing if requested. (App.pp.63-64). Harrington testified he visited Petitioner the night before the termination hearing and told him he had the right to an attorney if he desired. (App.pp.72-73; pp.75-76). Harrington testified Petitioner declined to have an attorney at that time but stated he could have changed his mind up until the termination hearing began. (App.p.73; p.76; p.78). This Court should afford great deference to Harrington's testimony, as the PCR judge found him to be credible. See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. at 13, 430 S.E.2d at 522; Menne v. Keowee Key Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc., 368 S.C. at 567, 629 S.E.2d at 696. Having been through the guilty plea process with an attorney,

Petitioner was aware of the potential advantages and disadvantages of experiencing a legal proceeding with the assistance of counsel. Petitioner was afforded the opportunity to have counsel represent him at the drug court termination hearing and simply chose not to avail himself of that opportunity, which was his right. See, e.g., State v. Brewer, 328 S.C. at 119, 492 S.E.2d at 98.

D.

Petitioner – while represented by counsel for his original charges and subsequent guilty plea proceeding – voluntarily waived many of his constitutional rights in entering the drug court program. He was advised verbally, however, of both the hearing date for his drug court termination proceeding and the opportunity to be represented by counsel at that proceeding. Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of proving the drug court termination proceeding did not meet the minimal requirements of due process. Cf. Dangerfield, 376 S.C. at 181, 656 S.E.2d at 355 (noting parole and probation termination proceedings must comply with minimum due process requirements). Accordingly, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (“The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.”).

II. The issue of whether Petitioner is entitled to review of appellate issues from his drug court termination proceeding is not preserved for review by this Court.

Petitioner argues he is entitled to a review of appellate issues from his drug court termination hearing. This issue, however, is not preserved for review by this Court. This issue is not addressed in the order of dismissal. As the issue was not raised to and ruled on by the PCR judge, it is not preserved for appellate review. See Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”). While Petitioner may have obliquely mentioned the issue at the PCR hearing, he did not file a post-trial motion pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC to request the court alter or amend the order of dismissal to include a ruling on this purported issue. As such, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. See Noisette v. Ismail, 304 S.C. 56, 58, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (1991) (holding that where a trial court does not explicitly rule on an argument raised, and appellant makes no Rule 59(e) motion to obtain a ruling, the appellate court may not address the issue).

III. The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner was time-barred from raising issues at the PCR hearing related to his guilty plea hearing.

Respondent filed a return and partial motion to dismiss in this case. (App.pp.28-32). Respondent argued all post-conviction relief allegations related to the drug court termination hearing were timely, but that allegations related to the guilty plea hearing were barred by the expiration of the statute of limitations. (App.pp.28-32). Respondent and Petitioner argued this motion at the PCR hearing. (App.pp.36-41). The PCR judge found Respondent's partial motion to dismiss was well taken and ruled issues related to the guilty plea hearing were untimely because of the expiration of the one year statute of limitations. (App.pp.41-42; pp.98-99).

The PCR judge did not err in granting Respondent's partial motion to dismiss and finding allegations related to Petitioner's guilty plea hearing were time-barred. The Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act clearly sets forth a one year statute of limitations for filing a PCR application:

An application for relief filed pursuant to this chapter must be filed within one year after the entry of a judgment of conviction or within one year after the sending of the remittitur to the lower court from an appeal or the filing of the final decision upon an appeal, whichever is later.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(a) (2003) (emphasis added).

Petitioner pled guilty on November 7, 2007 and received a sentence of seven years imprisonment suspended upon completion of drug court. (App.pp.14-15; Supp.App.pp.4-5). This was the date of his conviction. See Deal v. United States, 508 U.S. 129, 132, 113 S. Ct. 1993, 1996 (1993) (finding it "unambiguous that 'conviction' refers to the

finding of guilt by a judge or jury that necessarily precedes the entry of a final judgment of conviction. A final judgment of conviction includes both the adjudication of guilt and the sentence.”). Any post-conviction relief issues – such as the issues in Petitioner’s application about plea counsel’s failure to review discovery before the plea hearing or file a notice of an appeal after the hearing¹ – were known or should have been known to Petitioner within one year of November 7, 2007. The statutory period in which to file a PCR application and challenge issues related to Petitioner’s guilty plea hearing expired on November 7, 2008. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-45(a).

Contrary to Petitioner’s assertions, he did not enter conditional guilty pleas. This Court has long held that when a condition or qualification is attached to a guilty plea, the plea is conditional and the judge must not accept it. See, e.g., State v. Inman, 395 S.C. 539, 555, 720 S.E.2d 31, 40 (2011); State v. Truesdale, 278 S.C. 368, 370, 296 S.E.2d 528, 529 (1982). In this case, however, there were no conditions or qualifications attached to Petitioner’s guilty pleas to PWID marijuana and PWID crack cocaine. Petitioner merely pled guilty to suspended sentences – similar to when an individual pleads guilty and the sentence is suspended upon successful completion of probation. There is no provision in statutory or case law that a sentence suspended to successful completion of drug court is either conditional or somehow tolls the conviction. As such, Petitioner had until November 7, 2008 to file a PCR application to challenge any perceived constitutional violations experienced during the guilty plea proceeding. See Pelouquin v. State, 321 S.C. 468, 469 S.E.2d 606 (1996). As Petitioner filed this PCR

¹ App.pp.22-27.

application on March 29, 2010, the PCR judge was correct in finding any and all PCR issues relating to the guilty plea proceeding in this case were time-barred.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the lower court's ruling and deny the requested relief.